THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Oct 07 2022

APPEAL FROM BARNWELL COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Post Conviction Relief

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No.: 2022-000920

Dexter B. Brown, II, 330278,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

AUSTIN PETITION FOR WRIT
OF CERTIORARI

Tricia A. Blanchette
Post Office Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
(803) 908-3266
Attorney for Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the lower court (Honorable William P. Keesley) erred for failing to find that counsel was deficient and prejudice resulted when counsel failed to fully impeach the trial testimony of Roger Benjamin.
2. Whether the lower court (Honorable William P. Keesley) erred by failing to find that counsel was deficient and prejudice resulted when counsel failed to properly investigate prior to trial and utilize Brandon Parker as a witness at trial.

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law. *Smalls v. State*, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. *Webb v. State*, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court "will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to order of commitment from the Barnwell County Clerk of Court. During the January 2011 term of the Barnwell County Grand Jury, Petitioner was indicted for two counts of attempted armed murder (2011-GS-06-00010 to 00011) and possession of a weapon during a violent crime (2011-GS-06-00120). App. p. 238. Nicholas R. McCarley, Assistant Public Defender, represented Petitioner, and Lauren Maurice, Assistant Solicitor, prosecuted the case.

On May 11, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to trial in Barnwell County in front of the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson and a jury. App. p. 1. After the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted, Judge Dickson sentenced Petitioner to thirty years on each count of attempted murder and five years consecutive for the weapons charge.

Following the pronouncement of the sentences, Judge Dickson modified the sentences to be run consecutively due to circumstances that unfolded in the courtroom. App. pp. 219-221. After a hearing on a motion for reconsideration, Judge Dickson

reinstated the original sentence via order filed November 15, 2011. App. pp. 222, 224, 237.

Thereafter, a timely direct appeal was filed and was perfected by Tommy A. Thomas, Esquire. App. pp. 246, 263. On July 30, 2011, the South Carolina Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming Petitioner's convictions and sentences. *State v. Dexter B. Brown, II*, Unpub. Op. No. 2014-UP-303 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 30, 2011). The remittitur was issued on August 15, 2014. App. p. 280.

On October 2, 2014, Petitioner filed a Post Conviction Relief Application (2014-CP-06-0369). App. p. 285. Respondent submitted a Return and Motion for More Definite Statement on January 15, 2015. App. p. 292. Petitioner filed an Amended Application on June 17, 2015, alleging: 1) Counsel failed to object to improper jury instructions; and 2) Counsel failed to move to quash improper indictment. App. p. 290.

On January 25, 2018, an evidentiary hearing was convened in front of the Honorable William P. Keesley. App. p. 298. Petitioner was present and was represented by Thurmond Brooker, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Julie Coleman, Assistant Attorney General. At the start of the hearing, Petitioner, through counsel, orally amended his Application to include the following allegations:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to impeach Roger Benjamin by the testimony of Officer Trottie and Alice Thompson.
2. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to request a charge on lesser included offenses.
3. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to investigate and interview potential witnesses of which "Appellant" had advised his counsel of their existence.

App. p. 301, ln. 16 – p. 302, ln. 5.¹ Following the hearing, Judge Keesley denied relief and issued an Order on June 1, 2018, which was filed on June 4, 2018. App. p. 454. An appeal was not filed.

On June 5, 2019, Petitioner filed a Petition for Habeas Corpus in the United States District Court. App. p. 473. Respondent moved for summary judgment on July 31, 2019. App. p. 488. On January 31, 2020, United States District Judge Richard M. Gergel dismissed the petition without prejudice. App. pp. 556, 561.

On January 28, 2021, Petitioner filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief. App. p. 562. Respondent submitted a Return on May 3, 2021. App. p. 568. On May 13, 2022, a Consent Order Granting Appeal Pursuant to *Austin v. State* was issued by the Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope, from which this appeal follows. App. p. 578.

III. ARGUMENT

A. Summary of the Law

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland*

¹ The Order of Dismissal lists the claims made in an Amended Application filed on June 17, 2015 as listed herein. App. p. 457. Thereafter, the Order states: “At the evidentiary hearing, Applicant orally amended his application and informed this Court he was only proceeding on the following allegations: 1) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to impeach Roger Benjamin with his statement to Officer Trottie, 2) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to request the lesser included offense of Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature and First Degree Assault and Battery, 3) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to investigate witness Brandon Parker and other potential witnesses at trial.” App. pp. 457-458. In contrast to the Order, counsel stated that he was moving to “supplement the application and add a couple more issues of ineffective assistance of counsel.” App. p. 301, lns. 16-18. Counsel also did not state the additional issues in the exact manner reflected in the Order. App. p. 301, ln. 16 – p. 302, ln. 4. Following the issuance of the Order, counsel did not file a Motion pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCP, or a timely appeal.

Upon review of the evidentiary hearing record, to include testimony, exhibits and argument, it appears that Petitioner, through counsel, only addressed the three issues listed by counsel as supplemental issues at the evidentiary hearing. App. p. 301, ln. 16 - p. 302, ln. 4. Even though the Order incorrectly reflects that counsel stated that Petitioner was only proceeding on the three supplemental issues, the record demonstrates that the Petitioner only developed a record on the three supplemental issues and did not raise any additional issues, such as those in the Amendment Application, at the evidentiary hearing.

v. *Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Where an application for post conviction relief alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Id.* 466 U.S. at 686; see *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. *Bell v. State*, 321 S.C. 238 (1996); see also *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 238 (1989).

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–118.

B. Summary of the Facts Deduced at Trial

On October 15, 2010, Brandon Parker and Roger Benjamin left a store called Harry's in Barnwell County with a guy named "T" in the backseat.² Mr. Parker was driving his mother's (Leslie Morrissey's) burgundy Blazer when they noticed a Mercury

² Brandon Parker did not testify at trial.

Grand Marquis following them.³ App. pp. 85-87, 104-105. After attempting to take another route home, a “high-speed chase” ensued. App. p. 86, p. 99, Ins. 20-22. After the Blazer turned off into Mr. Benjamin’s grandmother’s (Alice Thompson’s) yard, “gunshots went off.” App. p. 86, Ins. 9-10, p. 99, Ins. 18-19. Mr. Benjamin ran behind the side of his grandmother’s house and looked back to see who was shooting. App. p. 86. At trial, Mr. Benjamin identified the shooters as Kendrick Jacobs and Petitioner. App. p. 86, Ins. 14-17.

Thereafter, the Grand Marquis went down the street to a store called “Classy Mae’s” turned around and stopped in the driveway and began shooting.⁴ App. p. 89, 134-135. At trial, Alice Thompson recalled observing the second shooting incident. App. p. 134-135. She described how she identified Petitioner and how he left after she told Petitioner she was calling the police. App. p. 134-135, 144, 149. She identified the 911 call she made and was cross-examined about her assistance by Mr. Benjamin with her identification of the vehicle and Petitioner on the call. App. pp. 138-140, 142-143.

Officer Trottie of the Barnwell County Sheriff’s Office was the first officer to arrive following the 911 call. App. pp. 47-48, 52-53. Upon arrival, he located Mr. Parker at Classy Mae’s. App. p. 48, Ins. 14-18. Mr. Parker told him: “Somebody tried to kill me.” App. p. 48, Ins. 19-20.

Investigator Chavis of the Barnwell County Sheriff’s Office arrived at the scene and was requested by the Sheriff to “work the crime scene.” App. pp. 57-58, p. 58, Ins. 1-

³ At trial, Investigator Croft testified that following a traffic stop of Petitioner and his girlfriend (Adrian Ingram) he discovered that Ms. Ingram’s father had a 1992 Ford Grand Marquis registered in his name. App. pp. 115-116, 130.

⁴ Alice Thompson testified that she saw Petitioner and Mr. Jacobs shooting at the Blazer, and she did not see them pointing at anybody. App. pp. 149-150.

2. He located shell casings from a 9 mm and .380 and several bullets, including one lodged in the headrest of the Blazer. App. pp. 58-66. Investigator Chavis only conducted a GSR test on Mr. Parker since the second GSR kit he had was not suitable for use.⁵ App. pp. 72-74. Investigator Chavis testified: “There was no indication of gun being fired out of the victim’s vehicle.” App. p. 74, Ins. 16-17.

As a result of an anonymous tip, Petitioner was located several days later in a residence with Mr. Jacobs and others. App. pp. 119-124. On the Sunday after the incident, law enforcement located Mr. Ingram’s car at his home.⁶ App. p. 126. Officers gained access to the car, noted vacuum marks, but did not process the car. App. pp. 126-127, 130. Law enforcement executed a search warrant at the residence of Petitioner’s father, and no weapons were located during execution of the search warrant or the course of the investigation. App. pp. 127-128.

C. Discussion of the Issues

1. The lower court (Honorable William P. Keesley) erred for failing to find that counsel was deficient and prejudice resulted when counsel failed to fully impeach the trial testimony of Roger Benjamin.

Petitioner submits that the Honorable William P. Keesley erred for failing to find that counsel was deficient and prejudice resulted when counsel failed to fully impeach the trial testimony of Roger Benjamin. As a result, Petitioner submits the lower court must be reversed and relief granted.

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. McCarley was asked about the report of Officer Trottie (Applicant’s Exhibit One), and he agreed that the literal reading of the report was that Mr. Parker and Mr. Benjamin did not know who was shooting at them, but he came

⁵ The GSR results for Mr. Parker were negative. App. p. 69, 77-81.

⁶ The incident occurred on a Friday. App. p. 126.

to understand it that they did not know who was shooting at the time they were in the vehicle. App. pp. 311, lns. 13-21, 412. When asked about Mr. Benjamin's trial testimony, counsel agreed that Mr. Benjamin testified that he saw Mr. Jacobs and Petitioner shooting. App. pp. 324-324. When asked if the report and testimony were inconsistent, Mr. McCarley explained that he met with Mr. Benjamin at the incident location before trial and Mr. Benjamin told him exactly what he testified to at trial.⁷ App. pp. 325-327.

Counsel went on to explain:

So what Deputy Trottie wrote down -- and this is probably where I got what I told you earlier. They didn't know who it was while everybody was in cars. Roger Benjamin then turns around later after he's gotten out of the car and identifies him. Alice Thompson having identified him, obviously, from her porch as well.

App. p. 326, lns. 7-12. After agreeing with PCR counsel that the information reported by Officer Trottie, which was obtained from Mr. Benjamin, and Mr. Benjamin's testimony could be interpreted as inconsistent, PCR counsel questioned Mr. McCarley about his reasoning for not specifically asking Mr. Benjamin about the inconsistency. App. p. 329-330. Mr. McCarley explained that he did not ask specifically ask about the inconsistency "based on the fact that I had interviewed the witness and he had explained it to me." App. p. 330, lns. 15-17.

On cross-examination, Mr. McCarley agreed that Petitioner's trial was one of his first trials after being hired at the Public Defender's Office. App. p. 348. He explained that Circuit Public Defender De Grant Gibbons served as his second chair and he

⁷ Counsel explained that he requested and was given the opportunity to meet with Mr. Benjamin and Ms. Thompson at the scene with the assigned Solicitor and the investigator from the Solicitor's Office. App. p. 327.

consulted with him on every decision of “any import.” App. p. 349, lns. 2-8. Respondent called Mr. Gibbons to the stand, and he confirmed the same. App. pp. 385-386.

As is addressed in the Order of Dismissal, Mr. McCarley testified and the record reflects that counsel cross-examined Mr. Benjamin on his statement to law enforcement and Mr. Benjamin denied writing the statement.⁸ App. pp. 92, 328-329, 358-359. After refreshing Mr. Benjamin’s memory with the statement, Mr. McCarley went line by line through the statement with Mr. Benjamin and asked him about the content. App. pp. 95-97. In response to counsel’s questions about the truthfulness of his statement, Mr. Benjamin agreed that parts of his statement were true and parts were false. App. p. 98. At trial, counsel did not specifically ask Mr. Benjamin about the information contained in Officer Trottie’s report that was inconsistent with his trial testimony. App. p. 412.

In response to the lower court’s review of the trial transcript and question of whether there was “some mention” that Mr. Benjamin’s statement “was one in which he did not identify the shooter,” PCR counsel responded that there is “a difference between him saying that you didn’t identify who the shooter was in your statement versus you told the law enforcement you didn’t know who the shooter was.” App. p. 408, ln. 9 – p. 409, ln. 6. It is clear from the record that trial counsel failed to address the information given to Officer Trottie by Mr. Benjamin and reflected in Officer Trottie’s report. App. p. 412.

By excusing counsel’s failure to introduce the statement as valid trial strategy, the lower court erred by failing to properly consider counsel’s admission that he did not ask Ms. Morrissey about writing Mr. Benjamin’s statement, Office Trottie about his report or Mr. Benjamin’s statement in an attempt to impeach the credibility of Mr. Benjamin’s trial

⁸ As is referenced in the statement, Mr. Benjamin explained that the statement was written by Leslie Morrissey. App. p. 92.

testimony, or Mr. Benjamin about the information in Officer Trottie's report.⁹ At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. McCarley admitted that he did not cross-examine or recall Officer Trottie or Leslie Morrissey on the subject of Mr. Benjamin's written statement or the report. App. p. 340, 342, 371, 412. As the record reflects, counsel failed to impeach Mr. Benjamin or utilize cross-examination of Officer Trottie or Ms. Morrissey to address the apparent inconsistency between the report, statement and Mr. Benjamin's trial testimony. App. pp. 53, 106-107. Therefore, counsel was not only deficient in how he allowed his understanding of the reason for the inconsistency to control his cross-examination of Mr. Benjamin, but he was also deficient for his failure to address the matter with Officer Trottie and Ms. Morrissey.

It is clear from the record that counsel's failure to fully impeach Mr. Benjamin prejudiced Petitioner. *See Dawkins v. State*, 346 S.C. 151, 156, 551 S.E.2d 260, 262 (2001) ("To show prejudice, the applicant must show, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the result of the trial would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." (citing *Brown v. State*, 340 S.C. 590, 593, 533 S.E.2d 308, 309-10 (2000))). When discussing his reasoning for not requesting the lesser-included offenses, counsel explained: "The trial strategy was that Dexter wasn't there, Dexter wasn't the shooter." App. p. 343, lns. 14-15, p. 354, lns. 17-25. In light of this trial strategy, it was highly prejudicial to Petitioner and in no way reasonable trial strategy for counsel to not use all

⁹ By way of the Order of Dismissal, the lower court briefly explained that counsel's reasonable trial strategy was to not lose last closing argument. App. p. 465. Petitioner submits that counsel could have further impeached Mr. Benjamin without introducing the statement and without losing last closing argument since Mr. Benjamin, Ms. Morrissey and Officer Trottie were called by the State. *State v. Crowe*, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.2d 379 (1972), *State v. Gellis*, 158 S.C. 471, 155 S.E. 849 (1930), *State v. Mouzon*, 321 S.C. 27, 467 S.E.2d 122 (S.C. Ct. App. 1995) (Holding where the defendant calls no witnesses and offers no evidence in his behalf, his counsel is entitled to have the concluding argument to the jury.).

means available to fully impeach Mr. Benjamin regarding his trial testimony whereby he directly implicated Petitioner as shooting versus his statement written by Leslie Morrissey and report given to Officer Trottie whereby he did not make such an identification. As a result, Petitioner urges this Court to reverse the lower court and grant relief.

2. The lower court (Honorable William P. Keesley) erred by failing to find that counsel was deficient and prejudice resulted when counsel failed to properly investigate prior to trial and utilize Brandon Parker as a witness at trial.

Petitioner submits that the Honorable William P. Keesley erred for failing to find that counsel was deficient and prejudice resulted when counsel failed to properly investigate prior to trial and utilize Brandon Parker as a witness at trial. As a result, Petitioner submits the lower court must be reversed and relief granted.

On October 19, 2017, the deposition of Brandon Parker was taken at Duplin County Detention Center located in Kenansville, North Carolina. Thurmond Brooker, Esquire, was present on behalf of Petitioner, and Respondent was represented by Julie Coleman, Assistant Attorney General. The transcript of the deposition, with accompanying exhibits, was admitted at the evidentiary hearing as Applicant's Exhibit Three. App. p. 318-319, 417.

At the outset of the deposition, Mr. Parker acknowledged that he was aware of the incident that took place on October 15, 2010 and that he was listed as a victim. App. p. 421. After being asked a series of qualifying questions, Mr. Parker provided his recollection of the events that took place. App. pp. 421-425. He recalled picking up a guy from the store that he knew from Allendale County, who he later identified as "T" and on their way back to Martin being chased by a car. App. p. 424, ln. 22 – p. 425, ln. 4, p. 427,

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