RECEIVED

Feb 21 2023

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Barnwell County
The Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

DEXTER B. BROWN, II, #330278,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

Appellate Case No. 2022-000920

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
PURSUANT TO *AUSTIN***

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 11973
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

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

As Judge Keesley correctly noted in his Order, in a PCR action, the applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in the application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where IAC is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance was whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. And the applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). Courts use a two-pronged test in allegations of IAC. First, the applicant must

prove counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (*citing Strickland*). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Judge Keesley noted he reviewed the record in its entirety and heard the testimony at the PCR hearing. He had also observed the witnesses at the hearing, closely passed upon their credibility, and weighed their testimony accordingly. Judge Keesley found Brown's testimony and assertions to be not credible and counsel's testimony to be credible and persuasive. These credibility findings were applied to his findings and conclusions set forth below. Judge Keesley determined Brown had failed to meet his burden of proof.

In the Order of Dismissal, Judge Keesley noted Petitioner alleged IAC for failing to impeach victim Benjamin with his prior written statement given to Trottie on the day of the crime. Judge Keesley correctly found this allegation was meritless. Judge Keesley found Brown had failed to prove counsel failed to explore inconsistencies between the written statement given to Trottie and Benjamin's trial testimony. Judge Keesley correctly found counsel **thoroughly cross-examined Benjamin at trial on the inconsistencies of his trial testimony and his prior statement to Trottie and the fact he did not tell Trottie that he saw Brown shooting at him.** This is fully supported by the trial record. (R. 90-98). **On cross-examination**, Benjamin admitted his statement to Trottie given on the day of the crime about the shooting did not reflect he identified or mentioned Brown at all. As counsel expected, the witness told the jury on direct he did not see who was shooting at him until after he got out of the car and went around his grandmother's home and looked back and saw Brown and his cousin Jacobs shooting. While Benjamin tried to explain

the statement away because Morrissey wrote the statement for him, counsel forced Brown to admit he signed the statement, swore that it was the truth, and Trottie witnessed it. (App. 90-98).

Judge Keesley correctly found the record clearly showed **counsel impeached Benjamin with the content of the statement in the exact manner Brown now alleges he should have.** (R. 90-98). Counsel impeached and cross-examined Benjamin about inconsistencies in the prior statement for approximately *8 pages of transcript*, including the fact the witness did not identify Brown in that statement. (R. 90-98). The record shows this cross-examination was further highlighted by the fact the jury was sent to the jury room so Benjamin could read over his statement carefully before being questioned further about it. The jury was then brought back into the courtroom, and Benjamin was cross-examined about the statement itself. (R. 90-98). Judge Keesley correctly found counsel's impeachment of the witness was proper and reasonable under the circumstances, and therefore not deficient. (R. 90-98). Benjamin admitted before the jury his written statement did not mention nor did he identify Brown on the day of the crime. (R. 90-98).

Judge Keesley further correctly found counsel offered a valid strategic reason for choosing *not to introduce the prior statement*, including the police report, during trial or in not offering any testimony from Trottie or Morrissey regarding the statement in Brown's case in chief. Both counsel McCarley and DeGibbons testified they did not want to lose the chance to argue the last closing argument, which at the time was the law. (App. 348-59; 379; 384-87). As a result, Judge Keesley correctly found counsel could not be deficient. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689 (reasonable trial strategy is not a basis for ineffective assistance of counsel); Sexton v. French, 163 F.3d 874, 887 (4th Cir. 1998)(tactical decision cannot be second-guessed by court reviewing a collateral attack); Fitzgerald v. Thompson, 943 F.2d 463 (4th Cir. 1991)(tactical decision sustainable unless it is both incompetent and prejudicial.); Bell v. Evatt, 72 F.3d 421(4th Cir. 1995)(standing alone,

unsuccessful trial tactics neither constitute prejudice nor definitively prove IAC, and petitioner must overcome presumption the challenged action was an appropriate and necessary trial strategy). **At the time of Petitioner's trial**, April of 2011, under South Carolina precedent, if the defendant introduced any evidence at all during the trial, whether an exhibit or through a witness called in his case in chief, he lost the right to last closing argument. State v. Crowe, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.2d 379 (1972); State v. Gellis, 158 S.E. 849 (1930); State v. Mouzon, 321 SC. 27, 467 S.E.2d 122 (Ct. App. 1995). This did not change until recently. State v. Beatty, 423 S.C. 26, 513 S.E.2d 50 (2018); State v. Shands, 424 S.C. 106, 817 S.E.2d 524 (2018). Judge Keesley correctly pointed out where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992).

Brown argues in his brief counsel should have impeached Benjamin at trial using a State's witness Trottie. First, Brown did not call Trottie at PCR to establish what Trottie's responses would have been if he had been questioned at trial or called as a defense witness and asked questions about Brown's prior statement. Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498-99, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995). *See also* Moss v. Hofbauer, 286 F.3d 851, 864-65 (6th Cir. 2002)(speculation as to possible lines of cross-examination insufficient where no evidence presented how witness would have testified had the cross-examination been pursued). Based on counsel's investigation of the case, Trottie could have given the same answer at trial that Benjamin gave at trial, that in his written statement Benjamin was referring to not seeing who was shooting at him when they were being chased by the Mercury. It must be remembered, in the 911 call seconds after the crime (**State's Ex. 26**), Benjamin can be heard telling his grandmother that it was Dexter *Brown* [petitioner] who was shooting at them. (**App. 142-43**). A BOLO was put out for the light blue

Mercury and the officer who stopped Brown's girlfriend shortly after the crime was looking for Brown and Jacobs. (App. 113, ll. 1-25). Police also interviewed Benjamin again the day after the crime. (App. 90; 100-102; 116-118). The police report written by Trottie lists Brown and Jacobs as the suspects. (App. 448-51). Counsel credibly testified based on his investigation, he knew the timing of when the identification was made. (App. 372, ll. 2-3). It is entirely speculative what Trottie would have said regarding Benjamin's statement and what point in time Benjamin was actually referring to in his statement, and as a result, Petitioner has failed to establish deficient performance or prejudice in this regard. Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d 807 (1998)(state's failure to object to hearsay testimony as to what another witness's testimony might have been does not relieve applicant of burden of producing admissible testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence); Moss v. Hoffbauer, 286 F.2d at 864-865 (speculation as to cross-examination insufficient where no evidence presented how witness would have testified had the cross-examination been pursued).

Second, the record shows Trottie was the 1st witness called in the case. (App. 46-54). At the time he testified, Trottie's testimony as to what Benjamin told him on the day of the crime, whether live testimony or in a police report, would have been hearsay. (App. 46-54; 357-58). Trottie was called before Benjamin testified. (App. 85-102). The defense would have had to recall Trottie after Benjamin testified and after the State rested, in the defense case, to establish a prior inconsistent statement, and that would have voided Brown's right to last closing argument, which would have defeated counsel's strategy. Crowe; Gellis; Mouzon.

The record shows counsel did make the last closing argument to the jury and pointed out deficiencies in the State's case. (App. 178-85; 358-59). As 2nd chair counsel Gibbons credibly testified at PCR (App. 385-387), what Benjamin had stated in his original written statement the

day of the crime was thoroughly covered before the jury on the record by counsel during cross-examination and counsel made an objectively reasonable strategic decision under the circumstances not to introduce the written statement and lose last closing argument where nothing additional would be gained. (See App. 90-98; App. 387-389). As a result, Brown had failed to prove counsel was deficient in this manner, or that any deficiency changed the outcome of the trial. Strickland v. Washington. Accordingly, this allegation was appropriately denied and dismissed by Judge Keesley with prejudice. Id.

Further, as previously discussed, the record shows witness Benjamin can be heard in the background on the 911 call shortly after the crime stating it was Dexter Brown who was shooting at him trying to kill him. (State's Ex. 26; 142-43). Further, as counsel credibly testified, and as witness Benjamin testified at trial, Benjamin did not write the statement, neither did Trottie, but Parker's mother, Morrisey, and Benjamin conceded to the jury there were false things in the statement because Morrisey did not take down correctly what he said. As a result of all of the above, the impeachment value of the written statement to Trottie, if it had been introduced, is lessened, which influenced counsel's strategic decision not to call Trottie. (App. 370, 11. 13-25). Strickland (defendant must prove prejudice by a preponderance of the evidence, i.e. the result of the trial would have been different if counsel had acted the way defendant alleges he should have).

Brown further argues IAC for failing to impeach Benjamin with the testimony of Leslie Morrisey. (IBOR). Brown argues Benjamin testified that his statement he signed the day of the shooting, which failed to mention Brown as the shooter, was inaccurate because Morrisey, who wrote the statement, failed to record his statement accurately. Ms. Morrisey was called as a witness at trial; however, counsel did not question her on this point.

This ground has no merit. It was waived and abandoned at PCR. This particular claim was not addressed in the Order of Dismissal (App. 456-72) and is not preserved for appeal where Brown did not file a Rule 59 Motion to have this issue addressed by the PCR Court in its Order. Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007)(failure to file Rule 59, SCRPC, Motion to have unaddressed issue addressed in the Order of Dismissal, results in issue not being preserved for review on appeal from PCR); Bostick v. Stevenson, 589 F.3d 160 (4th Cir. 2009)(same). As a result, this portion of appellate ground one is not preserved for appellate review. Id.

Regardless, there is no factual or legal merit to this portion of appellate ground one. Brown alleges counsel should have impeached Benjamin with the testimony of Morrisey; however, Brown failed to call Morrisey at the PCR hearing and elicit what her testimony would have been had she been cross-examined on this point. Because of the failure to call Morrisey, it is entirely speculative what Morrisey would have testified to. As a result, Petitioner has failed to prove deficient performance *or* resulting prejudice. Moss v. Hofbauer, 286 F.3d at 864-65 (speculation as to possible lines of cross-examination insufficient where no evidence presented how witness would have testified had the cross-examination been pursued); Zettlemoyer v. Fulcomer, 923 F.2d 284, 298 (3rd Cir. 1991)(applicant cannot rely on some unspecified and speculative testimony might have established his defense”; rather, facts must be presented); Bassette v. Thompson, 915 F.2d 932 (4th Cir. 1990)(allegation of IAC does not support relief absent proffer of the supposed witness’s favorable testimony); Fuller v. State, 347 S.C. 630, 557 S.E.2d 664 (2001)(similar); Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498-99, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995)(In order to support an IAC claim for failing to interview or call potential witnesses, a PCR applicant must produce the witnesses at the PCR hearing or otherwise introduce the witnesses’ testimony in a manner consistent with the rules

of evidence. Mere speculation about what the witnesses' testimony would have been cannot, by itself, satisfy applicant's burden of showing prejudice).⁵

Additionally, a reviewing court must consider the potential risk cross-examination would have led to damaging testimony being repeated. Moss, 286 F.2d at 865. The record shows the witness Benjamin can be heard in the background of the 911 call just moments after the crimes stating that it was Dexter Brown [petitioner] who was shooting at him. If counsel had cross-examined this witness as Brown argues he should have, counsel may have received a devastating response damaging to Brown's defense. Id. As a result, the impeachment value of Morrissey's testimony, even if it had been proffered, and even if it was favorable, is lessened.

Finally, as both counsels credibly testified, it was Alice Thompson's testimony that was the most damaging to Brown. (App. 351-52; 388-89). She actually witnessed Brown and Jacobs shooting at the victims as they drove by her house, when they turned around, and when they returned and pulled in her drive-way they shot up the Blazer. Ms. Thompson had known Brown since he was a child and helped care for him when his father [or step-father] was incarcerated. (Id.). She identified both Brown and Jacobs in the 911 call. The car used in the shooting, as described by witnesses, a light blue Mercury, belonged to Brown's girlfriend's father. Brown's girlfriend regularly drove the light blue Mercury but was not in the same at the time of the crime but was driving Brown's white car. Police stopped Adrian in Brown's white car shortly after

⁵ See also Putnam v. State, 417 S.C. 252, 789 S.E.2d 594 (Ct. App. 2016)(where PCR attorney did not call witnesses at PCR hearing, any testimony that witnesses may have testified to at trial was mere speculation; a PCR applicant cannot show he was prejudiced by the failure to call a favorable witness to testify at trial if that witness does not later testify at the PCR hearing or otherwise offer testimony within the rules of evidence; mere speculation what the witness' testimony would have been cannot, by itself, satisfy the applicant's burden of showing prejudice; defendant failed to demonstrate how counsel's performance prejudiced her trial, where no witnesses testified at PCR hearing, such that any testimony that witnesses may have testified to at trial was mere speculation).

crimes, and determined from her that Brown had the Mercury. Brown was arrested hiding from police in a closet. His co-defendant Jacobs, who later pled guilty, was arrested in the kitchen of the same house. The Mercury was recovered at Adrian's father's house. As a result, given all of the evidence in this case, Brown cannot establish prejudice under this ground. Strickland. As a result of all of the above, this ground has no merit. Id. The petition for certiorari should be denied.

Question presented II.

Whether Judge Keesley erred by failing to find counsel was deficient and prejudice resulted when counsel failed to properly investigate prior to trial and utilize Brandon Parker as a witness at trial?

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